
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

COMMUNITIES POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP
to be held on

THURSDAY, 12 MAY 2016
at

2.30 PM
in

GLEN ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, GRANTHAM. 
NG31 6PZ

Beverly Agass, Chief Executive    

Group Members: Councillor Duncan Ashwell, Councillor Ashley Baxter, 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor 
Breda Griffin, Councillor Charmaine Morgan, Councillor Mrs 
Andrea Webster (Chairman), Councillor Hannah Westropp 
(Vice-Chairman) and Councillor Ray Wootten

Executive Member(s): Councillor Bob Adams, Leader of the Council, Portfolio: 
Growth
Councillor Terl Bryant, Portfolio: Resources
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright, Portfolio: Housing
Councillor Kelham Cooke, Portfolio: Governance
Councillor Nick Craft, Deputy Leader of the Council. 
Portfolio: Environment
Councillor Mrs Linda Wootten, Portfolio: Culture

Support Officer: Anita Eckersley Tel: 01476 40 60 80 (ext. 6517)
E-mail: a.eckersley@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Group are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

1. COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

2. MEMBERSHIP

The Group to be notified of any substitute members.



3. APOLOGIES

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

5. ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 10 MARCH 2016

(Enclosure)

6. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

7. FEEDBACK FROM THE EXECUTIVE

8. VOLUNTEERING SUPPORT

The PDG to consider the following questions submitted by Councillor Baxter:

Every year, thousands of volunteers take tens of thousands of actions across 
South Kesteven to provide services, run events and improve our communities.

 What measures, financial and otherwise, is the Executive planning and 
doing in support of volunteers, their organisations and their events?

 Does the Council have any plans for increasing the level of support to 
volunteers?

9. BUY BACK PROTOCOL FOR FORMER RIGHT TO BUY SALES

Report BMH 108  Housing Scheme for Buying back Ex Council properties.
(Enclosure)

10. WORK PROGRAMME

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS, WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT





MEETING OF THE
COMMUNITIES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT GROUP

THURSDAY, 10 MARCH 2016 2.30 PM

GROUP MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Duncan Ashwell
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Barry Dobson

Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Mrs Andrea Webster (Vice-
Chairman)

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

Councillor Terl Bryant, Portfolio: Resources
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright, Portfolio: Housing

OFFICERS

Strategic Director, Community & Environment Focus (Tracey Blackwell)
Business Manager, Housing (Lisa Barker)
Senior Housing Options Advisor (Sarah Hutchison)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

46. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Woolley. Councillor 
Adams, the Leader of the council and Executive Member, Growth also 
apologised that he was unable to attend the meeting.

47. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed. 

48. NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 14 JANUARY 2016

The notes from the meeting held on 14 January 2016 were noted.

Page - 4

Agenda Item 5



2

49. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Members of the PDG noted the outcome of the consultation exercise on the 
proposed closure of Magistrates’ Courts, which was circulated with the agenda.

The Strategic Director, Community & Environment Focus gave a brief update 
explaining work undertaken since the last meeting on the Air Quality 
Management Action Plan. She explained that the action plan was currently the 
subject of public consultation, which closed on 21 March 2016. At the time of 
the meeting 20 public responses had been received, which recognised a 
distinction in the perception of air quality between Grantham town centre and 
the wider district. The consultation to date indicated broad support for the 
proposals with those related to the flow of traffic identified as likely to have the 
most impact. Comments from DEFRA were still awaited. Any members wishing 
to put forward their views were able to contribute via the public consultation. 
Feedback from the consultation exercise would be considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on Monday 4 April 2016.

50. REVIEW OF COMMUNAL FACILITIES IN SHELTERED HOUSING 
SCHEMES

The Business Manager, Housing presented report number BMH105 on the 
development of a Communal Rooms Policy and a Guest Room Policy for 
sheltered housing. The draft policies were attached as appendices to the 
report. The aim of the draft Communal Rooms policy was to regulate the use of 
community rooms by outside agencies, ensure consistency and transparency 
across schemes in terms of usage and hire charges. Residents in sheltered 
housing schemes paid a community room charge alongside their rents.

During January and February 2016, members were advised a consultation 
exercise was carried out at the sheltered housing schemes, with a turnout of 
approximately 31%. The issues that arose through the consultation exercise 
were summarised in the report and included support for charging outside 
groups, attracting new groups and activities, advertising activities to residents 
(but not advertising widely outside of schemes), parking constraints and the 
finishing times for events.

The report proposed that the new policy should also cover the use of income 
generated from charging external hirers of the facility. The proposal detailed in 
the report suggested that 40% of the income should be retained by the council 
to cover administration and servicing costs while the remaining 60% would be 
credited to a new ‘Residents’ Initiatives Fund’. The principle behind the fund 
was promoting social, health and wellbeing initiatives for residents across 
schemes with applications for funding from individual schemes being 
considered by a panel of sheltered residents. One member expressed concerns 
that using income to create a fund into which schemes could bid might lead to 
those less active schemes receiving the benefit of the income raised by 

Page - 5



3

proactive schemes and that this might prove to be a disincentive to schemes 
organising their own activities. Members were advised that the 40% of the 
charge retained by the Council covered cleaning and wear and tear, which, 
under existing arrangements, were funded through the HRA.

Brief discussion ensued on the process for booking community rooms. Some 
members spoke of their experiences visiting community rooms within their 
wards. A question was also asked about expectations of hirers with regard to 
insurance.

Members also spoke briefly on the increased charges for guest rooms in 
sheltered housing schemes. While all members accepted it was fair to recoup 
costs one member expressed concern about the impact of the increased 
charge on residents in sheltered schemes who paid the cost of accommodation 
for visiting family members.

As it was proposed that the policy was introduced and reviewed after a year, a 
request was made that at the end of that time feedback should be provided for 
the PDG to consider whether the policies should be remain on a permanent 
basis.

A majority of members supported the proposals within the report and endorsed 
their adoption by the Executive, with one member refraining from voting 
because of the increased charges.

51. ALLOCATIONS POLICY

At previous meetings of the PDG members had considered a wide range of 
principles for inclusion within the draft Housing Allocations Policy. The Business 
Manager, Housing presented report number BMH107 which summarised the 
new items covered in the draft policy and those criteria that had been changed. 
Members’ attention was also brought to a proposal within the White Paper on 
EU reform which sets the requirement for qualifying for a local connection as a 
mandatory period of four-years.

Areas covered in the draft policy included: 

 Increased priority for social tenants under-occupying social housing
 Robust criteria relating to refused and reduced access
 Taking account of applicants’ assets and income levels
 Provision for a right to move
 Provision for witness protection and harassment/threat of violence
 Management priority and direct offers to help meet multiple/complex 

needs

During discussion some concerns were raised about the age to which young 
people would be expected to share bedrooms. Officers explained that the 
proposed age of 21 was in line with statutory overcrowding legislation.

Page - 6



4

A copy of the draft policy was circulated to members of the PDG, who were 
given a week to make any high level comments about the process or ask 
questions. Members would be able to put forward their individual comments on 
the draft policy as part of the consultation process. The consultation period was 
expected to run between April and June 2016. Key stakeholders that would be 
part of the consultation exercise included: registered providers with stock in the 
district, other district councils in Lincolnshire, the South Kesteven Homeless 
Forum, the Tenant’s Panel and the Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary 
Service. A copy of the draft policy would also be published on the Council’s 
website and two briefing sessions would be scheduled for Councillors.

52. WORK PROGRAMME

Members of the PDG were informed that, with the exception of ongoing work on 
the wider car parking strategy, it had completed all tasks within its work 
programme for 2015/16. Preparation of the work programme for 2016/17 was 
underway and would complement the new corporate plan, which was being 
developed.

Members asked how work programmes were produced. The Strategic Director, 
Community & Environment Focus explained that the work programme was 
based on a combination of tasks that were designed to meet objectives within 
the corporate plan, emerging legislation and new areas that would help the 
council deliver against its priority ambitions. Any members of the PDG who 
wanted to propose items for consideration were advised to feed them to any 
member of the strategic management team or the Leader of the Council. 
Suggestions would need to contribute towards the Council priorities and would 
need to be considered as part of a prioritisation exercise.

53. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:19.

Page - 7



Page 1 

REPORT TO COMMUNITIES P.D.G.  

REPORT OF:   Business Manager Housing

REPORT NO: BMH 108

DATE:    12th May 2016

TITLE: Housing Scheme for Buying Back Ex-Council Properties

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

Key decison

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor F Cartwright – Executive Member for Housing 

CONTACT OFFICER: Lisa Barker 
Business Manager – Housing
Tel        01476 406251
E-mail   l.barker@southkesteven.gov.uk

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below

Full impact assessment
Required:

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council 
and  Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2013/18 [Links]
Housing Strategy
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan

Page - 8

Agenda Item 9

mailto:l.barker@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS
That PDG recommends that the Executive:

1. Approves the implementation of the scheme as outlined in Appendix 1;and 
2. Delegates to the Strategic Director-Environment and Property, with the 
agreement of the 151 Officer or deputy, authority to purchase properties, agree 
any necessary purchase prices and/or parameters and any other property 
transactions or decisions required to effectively implement the Scheme

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
2.1 To provide details of the proposed framework for buying back ex-council 

properties.

2.2 The proposals will contribute to the Council's Housing  priority 
developed from the  current HRA Business Plan , Housing Strategy  and the   
Housing Asset Management Strategy 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

3.1  The scheme will have benefits for both the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
and the General Fund. In terms of the former, the additional stock will help to 
sustain the HRA rental income whilst assisting in mitigating the financial 
pressure arising from the increased cost and requirements for temporary 
accommodation to house homeless households in the General Fund. It could 
also allow the Council to apply some of the time-limited retained Right to Buy 
(RTB) receipts.

Background
3.2     The Right to Buy scheme was introduced in 1980 and gives qualifying social 

tenants the right to buy their home at a discount. During 2013 the Government 
increased the discount cap for outside of London to £75,000 and this has 
accelerated sales. The maximum discount in South Kesteven currently stands 
at £77,900 and is uplifted by the Consumer Price Index on the 1st April each 
year. 

3.3 South Kesteven sold  37 properties during 2013/14, 37 during 2014/15, and has 
sold a further 41 to the end of March  2016. At the same time the Council 
occasionally receives enquiries from residents who are looking to sell their 
former owned council properties back to the Council, which could be facilitated 
through the implementation of a buyback scheme.

3.4 The funding for acquisitions through a buyback scheme will come from within 
the HRA. The Council is able to retain a proportion of  the receipts from RTB 
sales for replacement housing using the Government framework which can be 
used to part fund the acquisitions within the scheme. The balance which is not 
met from RTB receipts will utilise HRA respurces set aside for property 
acquisition and development . The current HRA Capital Programme for  
2016/17 to 2018/19 includes a budget of £8.1m for stock growth and 
acquisitions against which allocations have been made for new house building 
schemes. A residual balance of c £5m is available. 

Page - 9



Page 3 

3.5 The acquisition of such properties offers a number of benefits, as part of a wider 
programme to deliver increases in housing units:
•     Supports the sustainability of the HRA through replenishment of stock and 

replacement of rental income lost through RTB sales,
• Management and maintenance arrangements are already in place for such 

properties, and in many instances the properties are likely to be leasehold 
with the council as landlord.

• It allows a relatively quick application of RTB receipts when compared to 
new build schemes, which will support the maximum application of RTB 
receipts within allowable timescales.

• It will assist in mitigating the General Fund pressures on temporary housing 
accommodation by increasing the supply of affordable housing,

3.6 Further benefits can be achieved through the acquision of former council 
homes, particularly where:

 The property is a flat where other flats in the block form part of the 
councils stock. 

 Where community safety issues are of concern
 In a regeneration area or where the Council has plans to develop the 

surrounds.

3.7 It is not currently known what level of conversion into actual purchases will be 
achieved as much will depend on valuation and purchase price negotiations and 
the   location and type of properties that are purchased. We would estimate 
acquisitions at up to 10 per annum. This scheme, if implemented, will 
complement other initiatives aimed at increasing numbers of housing units and 
utilising the retained RTB receipts.

Scheme Framework

3.8  As a general principle the scheme will prioritise properties based on their value, 
size, condition and location to ensure the best value is obtained. Any 
expressions of interest will take into account the following considerations:
• Any sub-let properties will be excluded at this time.
•  Priority would be given to  any future regeneration  or development areas
• Properties will be subject to a viability check which considers the rental 

return against the costs of purchase and repairs.
•  In view of the lower value of property prices and the priority housing need 

requirements, the initial focus will be on the repurchase of two and three 
bedroom properties in the south of the district.

3.9 Any tenant who purchased a property under the Right to Buy Scheme would 
have to repay a proportion of the discount they received if they sell within the 
first five years.

3.10 Once appraisal has been undertaken by the District  Valuer, and provided that it 
is considered appropriate and feasible to repurchase the property within a 
reasonable period of time, each individual acquisition will be submitted for 
approval.

3.11   It is proposed that delegated authority is given to the  Strategic Director-
Environment and Property in consultation with the151 Officer or deputy, to 

Page - 10



Page 4 

approve the proposed purchase prices . Delegated decision making would 
enable the Council to respond swiftly to any opportunities to acquire ex-council 
properties. 

3.12    Expediency is also required where affordability or personal tragedy is the driver 
for selling. Each offer will be "subject to contract", vacant possession and 
achieving a target date for exchange. 

The current rules concerning the RTB scheme state that a person has to be a 
Council tenant for a minimum of 3 years before they can achieve the maximum 
discount under the scheme. The cost floor determination (Section 131 of the 
Housing Act 1985) will also apply to any acquisitions within the scheme for a 
period of up to 15 years from the date of purchase.

This limits the Right to Buy discount to ensure that the purchase price of the 
property does not fall below what has been spent on building, buying, repairing 
or maintaining it over that period. In practice this would ensure that if the cost 
floor is higher than the market value the property would be sold at market value 
- regardless of the tenant's discount entitlement - or alternatively if the cost floor 
is lower than market value, but higher than the discounted market value, the 
property would be sold at the cost floor value.

The valuation report will be carried out by a suitably qualified Valuer and will 
give the market value with vacant possession for each property inspected.

Marketing the scheme
Proactive work will be undertaken with local letting agents and solicitors raising 
awareness of the scheme and the obligations of sellers to offer their property 
back to the council in the first instance if the sale is being undertaken within 10 
years from the point of sale by the authority. 

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
4.1 The Council has bought a small number of propreties back, particulary where 

the opportuntiy exsitng to consolidate ownership of  a block of flats . Over the 
last 3 years 2 properties have been bought back based on individual Non-Key 
decisions.  This scheme proposed by this report  would see proactive promotion 
of the scheme  and is likely  to result in an increase in the rate of appropriate 
buy back purchases . 

          The Council could choose not to operate a proactive buyback scheme, however 
the opportuntiy would be lost to  increase the supply of affordable housing, or 
be able to apply some of the retained RTB receipts, and not be able to buy back 
properties in areas that it may wish to improve and invest in over time .

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
The current HRA capital budget for 2016/17 to 2018/19 includes provision of 
£5,184K to support the acquisition of former Council properties as approved in 
the 2016/17 budget. It is not certain as to the exact number of units that will be 
acquired at this early stage, but existing market data for 2 and 3 bedroom ex-
council properties would suggest that it should be possible to acquire up to 10 
properties per annum from this budget, if a suitable number come forward.

Page - 11



Page 5 

As these are replacement homes the Council can use the retained RTB receipts 
to part finance the acquisitions. The application of net RTB receipts is usually 
limited to 30% of the cost of replacement homes, but Housing Finance 
regulations allow this to be increased to 50% in the case of ex-council 
properties, subject to a cap of 6.5% of the overall net receipts. If the costs are 
not coverd by  the RTB receipts HRA resources identified in the capital 
programme will be used.

The application of RTB receipts to such a scheme will assist in meeting the 
Council's obligation to apply retained RTB receipts within three years of receipt. 
If these receipts are not utilised within the allowable timescales they are 
returned to central Government and an accrued interest charge is levied.

The acquisitions will also replace some of the lost rent from the sale of RTB 
properties in the HRA and can also contribute to increasing the more general 
supply of affordable housing units, and assist in reducing the pressures on 
temporary accommodation spend in the General Fund.

As the acquisitions are alongside existing Council stock there will be economies 
of scale in terms of the ongoing management and maintenance costs. The cost 
floor determination gives protection for up to 10  years with regard to future RTB 
discounts on the acquired properties.

It is anticipated that the staffing implications of the scheme and any marginal 
costs in terms of undertaking valuations and legal procedures to support the 
timely conveyance of the properties can be managed within existing resources 
and budgets.
 
The scheme for the buy-back of ex-Council properties outlined in this report is 
intended to replenish lost housing stock within the HRA, thereby supporting the 
financial sustainability of the Council's social landlord function. 

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

6.1     Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Over commitment of capital 
resources

The operation of the policy will kept 
under review by officers, given the 
potential for changes in the operation 
of right to buy scheme, wider 
housing finance regime and the state 
of property market. The purchase 
decisions will be considered on a 
case-by-case basis with the benefit 
of full market knowledge from 
valuations, and an understanding of 
the impact on the HRA business plan

Page - 12



Page 6 

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM  IMPACT ANALYSIS
7.1 To be undertaken 

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
8.1 None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
9.1 There is budget allocated as part of the 2016/17 budget and in future years for 

the purchasing of properties in the HRA.  The purchase price of any property to 
be purchased will need to be independently valued to ensure value for money.  
The rent set will be in accordance of the property archetype and location.   

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The Council has a right of first refusal (s188 Housing Act 2004 and s156A of the 
Housing Act 1985).  This was introduced to all applications made for the Right 
to Buy after the 18th January 2005.   This right is protected by way of a 
restrictive covenant.  The covenant is placed on the title to the property which 
restricts any sale taking place without an offer notice being served on the 
former landlord (in this case South Kesteven District Council) giving the former 
landlord first refusal.  The right to first refusal is for the first disposal in the ten 
year period from the date of purchase under the Right to Buy and is then spent. 

The prescribed conditions relating to the right to first refusal are contained in the 
Housing (Right of First Refusal) (England) Regulations 2005 in accordance with 
Statutory Instrument 2005/1917.

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES
Planning:
The recommendations will assist in meeting the objectives of the Council's 
Housing Strategy 2013-2018 and specifically support managing the supply, 
through increasing the provision of affordable housing within the Borough. It 
could also help the Council to rationalise land ownerships in areas where there 
is an identified need for regeneration/improvements.

12.     APPENDICES:
12.1 Appendix 1 – Scheme Framework

Page - 13



Page 7 

Appendix 1- Scheme Framework

Introduction
The purpose of this document is to set out the approach of South Kesteven District 
Council (SKDC) to buying back Right To Buy properties.
This policy is to work along side South Kesteven District Council Housing Strategy 
2013 – 2018. The Strategy outlines how we will be actively managing our assets and 
redeveloping sites where there is potential.

South Kesteven District Council will aim to treat everyone who applies fairly and 
consistently and aim to make the best use of it resources. This includes buying back 
properties to include within the Housing Revenue Account.

Statement on the protection of public funds
South Kesteven District Council is committed to protecting the public funds entrusted 
to it.  Buying back ex-council properties via this policy is considered to be the 
allocation of public funds. SKDC will seek to ensure that all purchases are in 
accordance with this scheme and that applicants are subject to through verification 
and identity checks to minimise losses to fraud and corruption.

Repurchase criteria
As a general principle the scheme will prioritise properties based on their value, size, 
condition and location to ensure the best value is obtained. Any expressions of interest 
will take into account the following considerations:

• Any sub-let properties will be excluded at this time.
• Future regeneration or investment priorities sites
• Properties will be subject to a viability check which considers the rental 

return against the costs of purchase and repairs.
•  In view of the lower value of property prices and the priority housing need 

requirements, the initial focus will be on the repurchase of two and three 
bedroom properties in the south of the district.

Capital availability
Any offer to buy back an ex RTB property will be subject to their being available 
Capital funds within the annual programme

Priorities 
There are a number of areas across the district where there is substantial demand for 
social housing. Currently these are:
Stamford 
Bourne and the Deepings
Areas of Grantham

Community Safety
There may from time to time be occasions where it is desirable for a property to revert 
to local authority control due to historic community safety issues. 

Page - 14



Page 8 

Property Types
Bungalows across the district are highly sought after both by older people and those 
with disabilities. 
Ground floor flats
Flats where this wold consolidate SKDCs property holding
Some types of family accommodation

Management reasons
Where one flat is being sold and the majority of the block is in council ownership

Structural Defects
In most circumstances, properties with structural defects are likely to be refused. 

Regeneration
Council leaseholders who are living within an area designated for regeneration

Severe Hardship
For those in extreme hardship and unable to meet the costs of owning and maintaining 
a home. Under this option, properties will be bought back at original right to buy price 
not market price. 

What properties are not priorities
Three storey townhouses.
Where there are known concerns in respect of property types
Where there are known structural issues such as damp. 
Where the costs of purchase and repair are greater than the rental return available. 

Process 
The following sections will be approached, specifically requesting information to inform 
the decision
Housing Register: Will provide information in relation to demand for that property type 
in that particular area. 
Housing Management: Will provide insight into local management issues, concerns 
regarding community safety 
Housing Improvements: Feasibility, cost and repairs
Finance: Viability check considering the renatl return against the costs of purchase 
and repairs. 
Legal:Conveyancing

The Business Manager for Housing will oversee the process and take responsibility for 
ensuring that all applications are given due consideration and proper authorisation in 
line with the agreed scheme. 

Review
SKDC will review this policy  after 12 months of its initial implementation.

Page - 15


	Agenda
	5 Action notes from the meeting held on 10 March 2016
	9 Buy Back Protocol for former Right to Buy Sales

